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SENATOR RICHARD R. STOUT (THE CHAIRMAN): This is a 

hearing called by the Judiciary Committee of the Senate to 

consider Senate Concurrent Resolutions Nos. 22 and 23, both of 

which were introduced in this session by Senator Crane of Union 

County. We have a list of those wishing to speak on these 

resolutions and I am going to call them in order. I will call 

first the proponents of the resolutions. 

I am going to ask them to sit in this chair and to give 

their names and the organizations which they represent. 

This hearing is held in accordance with the const itu­

tional provision that before a constitutional amendment can 

be submitted to the people, there must be a public hearing. 

The other member of the Committee here with me this 

morning is Senator w. Steelman Mathis of Ocean County. Will 

you take a bow, Senator? 

I am going to ask Senator Robert c. Crane of Union 

County, the sponsor of the resolutions, to spe ak on behalf 

of the r e solutions. 

SEN A TOR R 0 B E R T c. C R A N E: Thank 

you, Senator Stout, for the introduction. For the r e cord, I am 

Senator Robert c. Crane of Union County and my purpose in bei ng 

here is to help forward the fight for the obtaining of a deserved 

fifth seat for Union County. We are discussing t hi s morning 

Senate Concurrent Resolutions Nos. 22 and 23 and both recommend 

constitutional amendments effecting specific means and methods 

of reapportionment. Just generally, before I start , I will s ay 
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that Senate Concurrent Resolution No. 22, while it appears quite 

lengthy in its provisions, does just this: It provides for the 

appointment and selection of a Reapportionment Commission to serve 

after a period of time has been granted the Legislature to solve 

the issue of reapportionment. If they do not, then this Re­

apportionment Commission shall be appointed and attempt to do 

the same. If they do not, within a certain prescribed time limit, 

accomplish reapportionment, it then devolves back upon the 

Legislature. I shall substantiate the argument for this resolu­

tion in this type thinking a little bit later in my thesis. 

Generally, however, I want to say that this resolution is offere d 

for those who feel that the Legislature must retain its pre­

rogatives. 

The other resolution, Senate Concurrent Resolution Noo 23, 

does away with the present provisions except for due regard to 

historic precedent, of course, but it does make the process 

automatic, provides for a ministerial agency, p rescribes a 

certain method knovm as "equal p roportions,n and se t s forth 

t he limit of the membership and also t he date on which the re ­

apprtionment shall be effected~ Basical ly, tha t is t he 

description of the two we are talk i ng about this morning . 

I might cite, Senator Stout, that we have h ad a n 

agre·ement that while we are discussing these two concu rrent 

resolutions for the purpose of mee ting the r equireme nts fo r 

constitutional amendment, I feel that it would be very s a luta r y 

to the State if there are those p r e s e nt who wish to d iscuss other 

types and methods of reapportionment, they would be a llowe d to 

do so, because 1, myself, have sponsored other resolutions in 

this session. You will note in the l a t e st Legislative Index there 
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are many apportionment suggestions and they are outlined in the 

first eight lines under the index title "Legislature". 

My Interest In re-apport!o~nt ls quite genuine. To 

all Indications Union County is entitled to a fifth seat In the 

General Assembly. 

Now, No. 1: Of the nine methods proposed by the New 

Jersey Legislature, subsequent to the promulgation of the 1950 

Federal decennial census, eight of those nine methods would give 

an ad.ditlonal seat to Union County. 

No. 2: Of three other methods proposed and used 

elsewhere and at other times, two would give an additional seat 

to Union County. 

And, by the way, l have repot'ts here which substan­

tiate those facts, proving that those methods do give Union 

County that recognition. 

No. 3: According to a chart prepared by the Law and 

Legislative Reference Bureau of the Division of the State Library 

on March 29, 1954, Union County, with 398,138 residents i n 19509 

represented 8.23 per cent of the State•s total population and, 

based on ownership of a portion of the Assembly delegation by 

virtut; . of this percentage of populati<;>n, they deserve L~ . 94 seats 
__ .~ . 
. ,)\, 

in the General Assembly. Now, !tts like the weather - everybody 

talks about it but nobody does anything. For seven years we have 

been unable to find a magic solution that would concede the 

fractional warrant to six one-hundredths of a seat. It leaves 

us, like Ivory Soap with its reputation for 99.l.iJ+/lOO per cent 

purity, almost but not quite whole or perfect. Now, rrry concern 

i:s genuine. 

Our county is growing, according to an article from 
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my own newspaper, if you will, but this does not represent con-

fl ict of interest, I hope. 

SENATOR STOUT: Would you name that Jo~rnal, please? 

SENATOR CRANE: The Elizabeth Daily Journal, sir. 

The issue of May 21, 1957 has an article in it dealing with the 

statistics given out by the Regional Plan Association. With 

respect to Union County it says: "The forecast based on an 

estimated 1955 population of 450,000 came from the Regional Plan 

Association after an eighteen month survey of trends in twenty­

two metropolitan areas in New Jersey, New York and Connecticut~ 

And further on in the article it clearly outlines the counties 

that were considered in this report and states that in New Jersey 
I 

they took into consideration the counties of Hudson, Bergen, 

Passaic, Essex, Union, Middlesex, Somerset, Morris and Monmouth. 

Now, as I say, our county has been growing; in 1950 the result 

of the last cens~s established our population at 398,000; in 

1955 it is said that we had 450,000. This Regional Plan Asso­

ciation has forecast a 42% rise in the next twenty years, to 

640,000 by 19750 Now, others are growing at the same timeo 

An article from the Ne warl< Sunday News of February 17 9 

1957, shows data rankin~ Middlesex in the State's bi g three by 

19750 Now, that is fantastic growth of course. Middlesex is 

supposed to pass Union in its size and population betwee n 1970 

and 1975; both will pass Hudson, according to these statistics, 

and Hudson is supposed to decline. (That is merely a projection 

and not a statement)o 

These suspected trends,already so well established in 

the early 50 1 s, will plague re-apportionment in the 60ts and 7o•s 
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if something is not done now. A stalemate cannot be permitted to 

exist, for nothing is so unpopular or undemocratic as unrepre­

sentative government or dispropol"tionment representation. My 

approach is wholly realistic, and I want to quote from a new 

book which, by the way, will be available to the general public 

on June 1, although I notice that others here today also have 

the benefit of a copy. It is entitled, "The Government and 

Administration of New Jersey," by Professor Bennett M. Rich, 

Director of the Bureau of Government Research, Rutgers, The 

State University. And, by the way, I have invited Dr. Rich to 

be present here with others from Rutgers today. On page 56, in 

a discussion of Apportionment, there is a paragraph which starts 

with the words, "Failure to establish an equitable method of 

distribution results in apportionment legislation based to a 

considerable extent upon the political strength that each party 

can muster at the moment. On the national level the problem was 

solved in 1941. Congress provided for apportioning the House of 

Representatives according to the mathematical system of tequal 

proportions.' This system reduces to a minimum the relative dif ~ 

ference in the two basic criteria for an equitable apportion­

ment, the population per representative and the individual rs 

share in a representative. The New Jersey General Assembly 

differs from the national House of Representatives in size, but 

the principle of apportioning the membership is precisely the s ame . 

Legislation to effect the apportionment by the method of equal p r o­

portions was adopted in the Senate. However, the House did 

not approve this proposal, or any other. As a consequence, the 

apportionment , made after the 1940 census remains in effect 

as of 1956.n 
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Now, I stated that my approach is realistic. 1 have 

recognized that a political parallel to possession being nine­

tenths of the law is actually in effect. The "have•s" and the 

1'ha.ve-nots" have different concepts of what ts fair and equitable. 

This was quite ev!dently the case when the ·merits of Senate bills 

Nos. 31 and 32 were argued last January in the ' State Senate. I 

have copies of those two bills to refresh our memories. I was the 

sponsor of S-31 which provided for apportionment based on equal 

proportions within thirty days after the effective date of this 

act, based on the 1950 census. Senate No. 32, · of which I was a 

co-sponsor, did exactly the same thing but delayed the matter 

untl 1 the 1960 census figures were available. The meth0d --of · 

equal proportions, the same used to apportion the House of 

Representatives in our Government, was hailed by the "have-notsu 

of Union, Monmouth and Burlington as manifestly fair to all con­

cerned, giving each of them and Camden an added seat in the 

Assembly. The 11have•s" of Essex and Hudson said it just wasn't 

fair to give up two apiece by any standard. I submit that this 

is rather politically academic. Needless to say, both bills 

pas~ed with somewhat less than unanimous approval and now lie 

buried in the Assembly under an avalanche of twenty.;.one formi­

daJ51:e ~ -vot·e:s~,~~1J.-:-Tht~·- ~w1·11 continue to happen as long as we confine 

ourselves to seeking a present solution based on the 1950 censuse 

By direct applic~tion of the formula the extent of gain or loss 

becomes quite apparent. 

S-5 introduced by Senator Kenneth c. Hand in 1956 as 

a direct amendment in law, title 19, chapter 52, of the Revised 

Statutes of New Jersey, ls a case in point: After specifying 
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the method of equal proportions and spelling · out its effect on 

each county - all this on the first page and a half of this bill, 

there follows a six page well-documented statement making out a 

case most undeserving of the hung jury it engendered. In look­

ing over the statement, I would say that it was eloquent, dis­

passionate, sincere, honest, virtuous . and worthy in every respect, 

but it missed the mark, and I have a copy of this bill in case 

anyone would care to see ito If, in seven years, we are no 

closer to the solution of this problem than the day we began, we 

might as well spend the next three more productively evaluating 

our mistakes. 1960 offers us a fresh start, for its population 

figures are still a matter 0f. . conjecture and thus everyone wi 11 

be taking a somewhat equal chance. Feeling that we cannot bind 

the 1961 or 1962 Legislature by law as to a means or method, I 

have turned to the process of Constitutional Amendment, intro­

ducing two for the purpose of offering a choice. Those are the 

result of a study of a·nationa'l-wide record of legislative fail­

ure and success in the field of ap:i;>ortionment, which is best 

illustrated by a document dated September 10, 1954, also put 

together by the New Jersey State Library, Bureau of Law and 

Legislative Reference. Now, I would like to quote fr om it for 

just a part. It• s entitled further in a subtitle, "Suggested 

Rerm dies for the Failure of State Legislatures to reapportion 

after each Federal census":- "For more than one hundred years 

the New Jersey Constitution has called for a reapportionment 

of its General Assembly seats among the counties by the Legis­

lature at the first session following the promulgation of each 

Federal decennial census. During those one hundred years the 
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Legislature has complied with this constitutional mandate except 

in two instances: (1) Following the 1920 census the Legislature 

was one year late in passing a Reapportionment Act; {2) No 

Reapportionment Act has been passed subsequent to the 19.50 censuso 

The act passed in 1941 is still the basis of county representa­

tion in the Assembly despi te considerable and significant growth 

am shifts in population since 1940. Since the promulgation of 

the Federal census in 1950, fifteen reapportionment bills have 

been introduced in the Legislaturee" And 11 11 remind you again 

that this is a report compiled in September, 19.54. · "These bills 

proposed eight different reapportionments nf the Assemb ly seats; 

seven of these bills were based on the mathematical formulas 

which are part of ·the nationally known methods of •Equa l Propor­

tions', •Major Fractions' , 1Harmonic Mean', the 'Vinton Method' , 

'Variations of the Vinton Methods, and a locally-contrived method 

labelled tThe Method of Arithm:etical Elimination' '; the other 

seven bills, if based on any method, did not so speci:fyo 

"The New Jersey Legislature is not alone in its failure 

to reappo:rtiono Twenty states have not reapportioned one or 

both Houses within the past ten years e During the 194.1- 1951 

period, twenty-eight states reapportioned one or both Houses; 

during the 1931-1941 decade, only twenty. As in New Jersey, 

the Legislatures of almost all other states are designated by 

the Constltution as the apportioning agencies and also, as in 

New Jersey, the Legislatures in most of these States hold this 

power exclusively. This common legislative failure to reappor­

tion itself has led to the recommendation and use of several 

remedies. Among the most notable of these, are: 

(1) Narrowing the range of 
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legislative discretion and making the process of reapportionment 

more nearly automatic, (2) - providing alternate procedure in the 

ev.ent the Legislature fails to actj and (3) - removing reappor­

tionment from the Legislature and placing it in the hands of a 

separate agen:ye Some have also recorrunended that to each of these 

three remedies be added a const i tutional provision for judicial 

review of the r eapportionment process. Each of these reme4ies 

has been adopted by at least one State." 

Now~ with respect to Nool -"Narrowing the range of 

11egislative discretion and making the process of reapportion­

ment more nearly automatic" o I am talking to Senate Concurrent 

Resolution Noo23. And I have a letter again from the Division 

of the State Library, dated March 159 and it states that:"Senate 

Concurrent Resolution Noo 23 provides that the Secretary of State 

, shall apportion the members according to the method of calcula­

tion descri~~d therein!' which is the method corrunonly refe r red to 

as the method of ?~equal proportion s no I say t.ha t in case you cannot 

recognize the description in Engl i sh of a mathematical formulae 

"It does not state in the bil l t hat it is equal proportions. You 

will note that this draft s pe c ifica l ly sets the size of the 

Assembly at 60o The present con st i tut i onal provision requ ire s 

only that the size of the As sembly shall never exceed 60~ and 

that's the quotation. It is my understanding it was not 

proposed to invest any discretion i n the Secretary of State in 

this apportionment matter ~ but his responsibility would be a 

ministerial one9 requ i ring a ~athematical calculation according 

to a specified method susceptible to on~ and only one9solutiono 

To leave the present clause ttshal 1 never exceed 6ott unchanged 1 
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would permit the Sec r e tary of State to certify an apportionment 

of any number of members betV£en ~1 and 60. Now, you will recall 

that every county is entitled to at least one representativeo 

The size of the Assembly since the adoption of this clause in 

1844- has always been 60o 

Now, for those who cannot stomach the abandonment of 

our Legislative pre rogatives, Senate Concurrent Resolution No.22 

represents the present systenj plus; t he plus feature is the 

alternate procedure involved. Now, I might say that States 

which have attached alternate procedures - there are five that 

I have specific examples of, California, Michigan, Oregon, South 

Dakota and Texas, have all re-apportioned. Now, in addition to 

these five above·-named States, there are two others, Colorado 

and Illinoiso Now, the method that I have proposed in Senate 

Concurrent Resolution Noo 22 as an alternate procedure, conforms 

more nearly to the feature in the Illinois suggestion. In fact , 

it establishes, of course, a non=legislative agency. I might 

a ls o say that with respect to non-legislative agencies, of which 

there are several examples, one in Arkansas and Missouri, this 

proposal very nearly equals the one used in Missouri. Now, there 

is precedent for this jockeying back and forth, if I may use the 

term, between a Legislature and a non-legislative agency, one 

succeeding the other in case of failure, and then returning to 

the original agency , and I would cite for you the decision on 

Botti vso McGovern, a decision rendered in law in New Jerseyo 

In a direct q·10te from it by the court: "In our opinion the 

right of the inhabitants ·of the several counties in the State 
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be accorded the representation in the lower house provided by the 

Constitution cannot be defeated by such non-action of the Legis­

latureo It is true that the clause requiring the Legislature 

sitting next after the promulgation of the federal census to 

make the apportionment is mandatory,lut disobedience of that 

mandate cannot produce the result 'claimed by the relatoro The 

failure to perform the duty cannot cancel the legislative 

obligation, that is to say, if the apportionment is not made 

in the first session after the return of the enumeration, the 

duty to make it devolves upon the Legislature then next sitting, 

and upon each following Legislature until that duty is performedou 

In both instances» in SCR-22 and SCR-23,1 was guided 

by the historic provisions of the Constitution and all prior 
al 

thinking on constitution revision. Now, I quoted to you some 

thinking related to fixing the membership of the General Assembly 

at 60. There have been some worthy pieces of legislation intro-

duced by well-intended members of our Leglslature proposing to 

accomplish re-apportionment by adding members, but if we would 

look to New Hampshire weVll see a gl aring example of the 

failure of that type system. They have a very large unwieldy 

Legislature creat•d by adding seats when necessary, and I do 

believe that were we to exceed our historic limit of 60 we 

would tend in that direction and become less effective 0 Now~ 

as to a selection of a metho~ I was guided by a nation-wide 

trend and by the fact that Congress re-apportioned according 

to a certain method known as Uequal proportionsn in the latest 

instance. If I might, I would like to cite a few examples of 

what I said was historic precedento The Constitution of 1844 



provided practically the same provision for reapportionment that i s 

contained in our present Constitution, and established the limit 

of 60 by saying the whole number of members shall never exceed 60o 

The Constitutional Convention of 1947 was prohibited from making 

any substantive change in the 1844 constitutional provisions for 

legislative representationo Chapter 8, of the Laws of 1947, 

which authorized the Constitutional Convention, reads~ 0 The 

constitutional convention shall prepare and agree upon a new 

State Constitution, revising, altering or reforming the present 

Constitution in such part or parts and in such manner as the 

convention shall deem in the public interest; provided, howeverj 

that the convention shall in no event agree upon, propose or 

submit to the vote of the people, either separately or included 

among other provisions, any provision for change in the present 

territorial limits of the respective counties, or any provision 

for legislative representation other than provision for a 

Senate composed of one senator from each county and a Genera l 

Assembly composed of not more t han sixty member s apport i oned 

among the counties according to population so that each 

county shall at all times be entitled to at least one member, 

chosen for, and elected by the legal voters of, the respective 

countieso" 

Now, during the late Constitutional Convention, a 

proposal was formally introduced to include in the draft of 

the new Constitution a provision for the election of Assemblymen 

by Assembly Districtso The question as to whether or not this 

was a proper subject for consideration by the Convention unde r 

the above enabling act was raised and the Convention requested 
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The Attorney General for an opinion. Walter D. Van Riper, the 

Attorn~y General at the .time, in a formal opinion, instructed 

the convention that it could not cons.!der this proposal. This 

opti:ito~ i~ to be found on pages 641 ;to : 644 of Vol. 3 of the 

proceedings of that convention in 1947. Now, mind you, this 

was not a reflection upon the merit of that proposal and you 

will note ihat in the various acts that have been proposed th i s 

year, there is one for Assembly districts. It was discussed, 

by the way, on our legislative television program during February 

by Senator James F. Murray, the Democrat from Hudson, and 

Assemblyman Beadleston from your home county. Senator Murray 

took the positive viewpoint that these Assembly district s would 

be the best method in or,der to beat pol ittcal bosses and Bea d­

leston, of course, favored the equal proportions method advocated 

ln Senate Bills 31 and 32. Even the Legislature when ! t acted 

as a constitutional convention, you will remember early in the 

4ots, was prohibited to act upon any changes or to make any 

recommendations ; 1 to change the number of the Assembly. I came 

to the conclusion that a l l past ls rather prologue and the nee d 

for new provisions since the use of these fixed ratios of t he 

Vinton and the Variations of the Vinton Method have been 

p~oved mathematically unsound. It ls true that we have r eappor­

tioned in the past using these methods but it was pointed out 

that in Alabama at one time, it was possible for one count y, 

though it had grown more rapldly than any other, to actua l ly 

lose a seat. Now, I do have a document here that details t ha t 

graphically for anyone v.ho wishes to see that, but it is poss ib le 

under the Vinton or Variations of the Vinton Method to wi nd up 
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with that result, and I think that it is worthy that we have 

departed fr'om the practice of using those methods. - I wl 11 

admit that there are other methods and that there are sincere 

proponents of those methods. This is merely my best effort and 

I would like to thank all those who have worked with me on !to 

The Division of the State Library, Mr. Alito, has been of inval­

uable aid to me, and also Rutgers University, through Dr. Rich, 

has done quite a bit of research to which I referred, and also 

their Department of Mathematics gave us this formula which was 

stated to be the equal proportions method, and Dr. C. Rti,ssell 

Phelps, the Associate Professor of Mathematics at Rutgers, ls 

here today, should you care to ask him any questions. 

We, in Union County, are bringing up thisJ subject 

constantly. I know that many people feel that we do so ad 

infinitum and that it is just an old battle cry.. To us it 

has great significance. We feel that if the Legislature can 

fail in this decade to reapportion, i t can fail in 1960 and in 

1970. l believe that I have brought to you facts which prove 

that we must make decisions. I personally favor the aut omat i c 

method contained in SCR-23 because I believe that it wi l l take 

this question out of politics. l t will take it out of the 

struggle between the "have s " and the 'bave-notsu. 1 think i t 

will be fairer to all concerned and by doing so now we can do 

'it while it is a matter of conjectur e as to the population !n 

each county and therefore no one can say wlth certainty tha t 

under this provision we shall lose or we shall gain. I 

hope that in the end analysis t h i s constitutional amendment 

will be adopted and 1 have relegated this question to 1960 
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tn the belief that it is the best for everyone and that Union 

County having established !ts case will then gain recognition. 

Thank you very mucho 

SENATOR STaJT~ Senator, you favor SCR 23 as opposed 

to SCR 22, but if' SCR 23 were not able to pass you would push 

SCR 22 just as hard? 

SENATOR CRANE: Yes, I wanted to bring to the Legis-

lature two recommendations so that there could be a choice. I 

actually favor the passage of both by the Senate so that the 

Assembly has that choice and w!ll be presented with two, 

because I note that there are many who feel very strongly that 

we must not abandon our legislative prerogatives. 

SENATOR STaJT: You have already named the counties 

which would gain under the 1950 Federal census, if the equal 

proportions method were adopted? 

SENATOR CRANE~ That1s right - Burlington, Union, 

Monmouth and Camdeno 

SENATOR STOJT~ It sounds like a good bi 11. 

SENATOR CRANEg Under that formula it would take two 

from .Hudson and two from Essexo 

SENATOR STOOT~ Thank you, Senator Craneo Would you 

llke to jotn the commi t tee on the rostrum here? 

SENATOR CRANE : 1 would like to, yeso 

SENATOR STa.rf g It would lend some added weight to ! to 

SENATOR CRANE : I might say before I leave that I will 

furnish the committee for i ts repor t copies of these documents 

which l have ctted so that it will not be necessary, perhaps, 

to reproduce them in their 



SENATOR STa.JT~ Thank you, s!r. I will now call 

Dr. Bennett M .. Rich, of the Bureau of Government Research, at 

Rutgers University. 

D R0 B E N N E T T M.. R l C H~ Senator Stout, Senator 

Mathis and Senator Crane; My name is Richo I am with the 

Department of Political Science, in the . Bureau of Government 

Research, at Rut~ers, the State Univers!tyo 

1 should like to present to the committee my 

colleagues, Ernest C. Reock, Dr. Stanley Ho Friedelbaum, of the 

Bureau of Goverriinent Research, and also Dr .. C .. Russell Phelps, 

Associate Professor of the Department of Mathematics.. They 

are here with me and, Mro .Chairman, if it is al 1 right after a 

short statement, if there are any questions I should hope that 

we can handle them as a group, with them coming .. in as seems 

appropriate. 

We are very much pleased to accept Senator Crane~s 

invitation to speak on the subject of apportionment inasmuch 

as this subject is dear to the heatt of any politica l scientist, 

for it Involves a bas ic issue in democracy; namely, the whol e 

representative system.. We have a statement which we should 

like to ask to be entered into the record, and I shou ld like 

to speak for just a few minutes summarizing the points that 

are made in that statement .. 

SENATOR STOlITg Doctor, that~s a statement entitled 

"Statement on Senate Concurrent Resolutions 22 and 23, dated 

today*s date?" 

DRo RICH~ That is corl"ect, sir. 

SENATOR STaJTg We will include that in the record 

at this time .. 

"DR .. RICH~ Thank you. We are speaking principally to 
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Senate Concurrent Resolution Noo 23.. This is the one that pro­

vides the automatic systemo We feel that there is much to be 

said for this because we have the record of seven years R efforts 

by both Houses to effect reapportionment with over 50 different 

measures being introduced and no one of them having succeededo 

There has been a lot of time taken 9 much argumentp recr imina tion, 

back-bitingi and we feel this could be solved easi l y by the 

acceptance of an automatic systemo 

Secondly 9 we like the idea contained in the resolution of the 

date of 1960$ since this is far enough ahead 9 a system is set up 9 

and in our report we have an observation that I think woul d hold 

here that such a procedure vtil 1 mean an acceptance of the rules 

of the game before it is possible to see which way the bal l wil l 

bounce .. 

Third is to the methodo We think this plan 9 which is the 

method of equal proportions 9 is the most equitab le one that has 

thus far been devisedo 

I might add that our p rincipal reason for bringing Dr o Phe lp~ 

along with us is because we 9 as polit ical scientistsii are in no 

sense familia r with the theory of mathematics and we thought 

there might be some membe rs of the Committee or some in the 

audience who would like to ask questions with reference to the 

theoryo So we asked Professor Phelps to come alongo He was a 

student of Dro Huntington 9 the Harvard Un ive:rsi ty Professor wh o 

was one of the p rincipal proponents of the equal proportions plan 

when it was introduced into Congress .. 

Fourth 9 we think the apportiqnment can be handled either 

by constitutional amendment or by legislationo Each system 

has its advantageso 
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Our principal point would be that the proposed amendment does 

meet the objective of providing what is, up to this point, the 

most equitable plan availableo We would have one suggestion: 

we think perhaps it would be possible to spell out the enforce­

ment a bit in the proposed amendment. You will note our state­

ment at the top of page 13: "Presumably, the secretary of 

state could be compelled to act in accordance with the terms of 

the amendment by a judicial proceeding in lieu of a prerogative 

writ. However, provisos may well be included to make the 

amendment self-executing and to authorize expressly legal pro­

ceedings requiring action by the secretary of state.tt We think, 

also, that it might be advisable to use the expression 1tequal 

proportions" some place in the amendment. 

Mr. Chairman, that concludes my statement. I would be 

very happy to have questions asked. 

SENATOR STOUT: Are there any questions? Senator Mathis? 

Senator Crane? 

SENATOR CRANE: I have oneo It was more or less a forced 

method. We know that many States have provided for judicial 

review and, in some instances, judicial review has also 

given effective reapportionment. In other words, there 

is one provision, and I would have to go through these documents 

to establish it, but there is one State where the judiciary has 

the right, in the event of legislative failure, to review 

their act and to comment on it.. If the Legislature does not 

actually make the reapportionment, then the judiciary can come 

come back and make the apportionment, Was it your idea in 

spelling out 
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enforcement on the matter of this ministerial agency to provide 

for some judicial review structure like that? 

DR. RICH: That is correct , sir. In other words, that the 

Secretary of State could be compelled by some proceeding in 

lieu of a prerogative writ to carry out the direction of the 

Constitutiono 

SENATOR CRANE: That is a l l I have to say. 

SENATOR STOUT: What is the usual length of time it takes to 

promulgate the federal census, or "certify" it, I guess is 

the word. The last time, I believe it took a year and a half o 

DR. RICH: That's right . I t is our understanding that 

that is a little more than the normal amount of time but it 

would probably take somewhere in the neighborhood of a year. 

SENATOR STOUT: It is conceivable that if this plan were 

adopted, or the resolution for the constitutional amendment 

were adopted, the reapportionment wouldn•t take effect until 

perhaps 19637 

DR. RIQf: That i s correct . 

SENATOR STOUT: Now, you have s aid there were two methods 

and both had their advantages : one was the constitutional 

amendment and the other was by legislation. I take it you 

mean that we could do it now by legislation but we just are 

unable to pass the bill in the Assembly. 

DR. RICH: Wel 1. , our thought was that there are some 

people who contend that the Legislature alone should 

have control of the apportionment system, that this is 

strictly a political quest i on and that the Legislature should 

not give up its control over the system, and, of course, when 
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a constitutional amendment is adopted, this, in effect, relieves 

the Legislature comple tely of its responsibilityo Now, if an 

act were passed it might be possible to establish an automatic 

apportionment system and still leave the ultimate control in 

the power of the Legislatureo In other words, the "equal 

proportions" act passed by Congress says that Congress still 

retains the authority, but if Congress doesn't act then the 

automatic system goes into effecto 

SENATOR STCUT: In Senate Concurrent ResolutJon 23, 

I take it, from paragraph ( b), which refers to geometric mean, 

that that is the "equal proport.ions" methodo ls that correct? 

DRo RICH: That is correcto 

SENATOR STOUT: And you would recommend that somewhere 

in there we al so include the words "this being an equal p ro­

portions formula" or some identification of it as that method? 

DRo RICH: This is very much an arguable pointo We 

feel, a~ter all, that the first question people will ask will 

be, "What procedure is this7,"and that there would be some 

advantage to having it stated in the amendment, particularly 

for future use o 

SENATOR STOUT: I think that was Senator Cranews big 

difficulty in the beg inningo He wasnst quite sure which 

formula this waso 

SENATOR CRANE: Oh, no, I knew which formula it was, 

but in arguing it, I felt that if you stated it was 11equal 

proportions" in the beginning, even though it was related to 

1960, you would still have the opponents who thought only in 

terms of its present applicationo 
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SENATOR STOUT ~ Now, there is another question that I 

want to clear in my own mind. In t he past five years ,to my 

knowledge,! have always heard of a plan referred to as the 

"Rutgers Plan~ is that the same as this one7 

DR. RICH: Well, sirj in 1952 the Bureau of Government 

Research prepared a study relating to the apportionment problem 

in New Jersey in which we presented three mathematical plans, -

major fractions, harmonicmean and equal proportions. We pointed out 

in there , that the"equal proportions'~lan was the one adopted by 

the Congress, and this plan was taken by some members of the 

Leg~slature and bills were introduced and those bills were 

often referred to as the "Rutgers Plan", yes siro 

SENATOR STOUT g Then the "Rutgers Plan" as of 1952 

and "equal proportions" are the same? 

DR .. RICH~ That is correct. 

SENATOR STOtrr~ And there was another plan commonly 

referred to as the "Cavicchia Plan"., was that the same thing? 

DR .. RICH~ No, sir . The"Cavicchia Plan"was,in sub­

stance ,the so-called "Vinton Plan 11 ,which Senator Crane referred to 

earlier this morning and which was in use by Congress for some 

years but was abandoned by Congress about 1900 and 1910. 

SENATOR STOtrr : Now, one more question from me, Dro 

Rich. Do you know how many States use the "equal proportions" 

method? 

DR. RICHg To the best of my knowledge and I'll call 

for help here - there are no States using precisely this system. 

Now the answer to that is not difficult to understand. There 
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are so many state constitutions that spell -out in sbme detail 

the method of the distribution of the seatso Happily,New Jersey 

has a relatively simple constitutional provision; it doesn't 

say that Newark shall have (X) seats; in other words, the 

constitution of Maryland, for example, sets forth that a certain 

portion of the total membership shall be given to Baltimore. 

In other words,you couldn't have "equal proportions" system 

under those circumstances, and a great many of the state 

Constitutions are constructed in such a fashion that the 

"equal proportions" system wouldn't work. 

SENATOR CRANE~ Can you tell us what changes were 

made? 

DR. RICH: I cannot tell you what changes were made. 

Stan, can you come to the microphone. This is Dr. Friedelbaumo 

Could he speak on that point? 

DR. S TA NL E Y H. F R I E D EL BAU Mi 

That apportionment apparently was done under the"Cavicchia · 

Plann in 1941; that is under the old "Vinton" method which 

was abandoned by Congress because of the mathematical paradox 

involved. I believe Mr. Alito has the list of changes. 

SENATOR CRANE: It was a swap of one seat. Bergen 

gained one and Hudson lost one. 

DR. FRIEDELBAlJMg It was a relatively small change. 

SENATOR STOtrf g Any further questions? 

SENATOR CRANEg I have just one. To bring the record 

up to dat~ I would like to say that my previous allusion to 

a state in which a judicial review had the effect of establishing 
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law, I refer to the State of Oregon, and there are provisions 

for judicial review in Oklahoma, New York and Texas. 

But I have two quest'ions, Dr. Rich~ When you talk 

about establishing apportionment by law you are talking directly 
·:. ·' · 

to amendments of Chapter 52 of Title 191 I mean thattha,t ·) chapter, 

of course, spells out that Union County shall have four seats, 

Burlington one, or whatever the , present provision is, and that 

is actually effected by number? 

DR. RICH~ That is correct. 

SENATCR CRANE~ Well, now, in your opinion, sir, as 

a political scientist, can we bind future legislatures to 

effect this reapportionment by a certain method in that law? 

Can you state in there, as is provided here in Senate 32, that 

in 1960 after the publication of the decennial census the 

Legislature shall reapportion based on the "equal proportions" 

method? -ooesnVt that more or less usurp the constitutional 

prerogative? 

DR. RICH~ You are correct that the only way that you 

could really bind the Legislature would be to do it by amend~ 

ment, that an act of the Legislature could easily be repealed 

by a succeeding legislative body. A lot, of course, wouid 

depend upon public opinion. If there was a feeling that a 

system had been adopted which was equitable and fool-proof, 

then you could raise the question of whether the Legislature 

would want to tamper with that. 

SENATffi CRANE ~ Well, then-ii I would like to say, Mr. 

Chairman, that both Senate 31 and 32 were the products of 
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the effort of Senator Wesley Lance of Hunterdon, who proposed 

these changes in lawo It was Senator Lance's thinking that it 

could then be challenged in court 9 and, if upheld, it would have 

the effect of law and thereby coincide with the one recommen­

dation you madeo That has also been introduced in this 

session and we have the abi lity to do that if it is desirableo 

DR. RICHg That is correct . One of the principal 

arguments for the amending process would be that it would do 

away with any possible challenge as to the constitutionalityo 

SENATOR STOUT~ Do any of your colleagues have any""' 

thing to add? We would be very glad to hear from them if they 

DRo FRIEDELBAUMg With respect to Senate Concurrent 

Resolution Noo22, there is just one added commento We note 

in our statement that perhaps with the commission operating, 

then the Legislature, and then the commission again, the pro= 

cess may well b~ interminableo There is a provision in the 

Texas Constitution which possibly might be of some help in 

this respecto In Texas it ls mandatory upon the Legislature to 

reapportion the State into senatori al and representative 

districts at the first regular session following each decennial 

censuso Failure to do so results in the Greation of a legisla­

tive re-districting boardo However, the State Supreme Court 

has jurisdiction to compel the commission to perform its duty 

by an extraordinary writ of mandamus o My thinking was that 

possibly that could be used in connection with this commission$ 

prescribed in pr esent Senate Concurrent Resolution Noa 22, 

as a means of putting a break upon this 
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interminable process. In other words, if the Legislature 

failed to act at its first regular session following the 

promulgation of the census, the commission would come into 

being immediately. Its work, if it did anything, would have 

the full force and effect of law. However, the commission» 

unlike the Legislature, could be compelled to act through a 

proceeding in lieu of a prerogative writ. 

SENATOR CRANEg Doctor, would that preclude the 

responsibility devolving back upon the Legislature? 

DR. FRIEDELBAUM~ I think it wouldo I believe,under 

the Texas system, it would mean that if the Legislature at its 

first session did not act, and the commission were established 

according to the Constitution, it would be the responsibility 

of the commission to act and that a proceeding could be brought 

to force the commission to acto In other wor ds, no proceeding 

could be brought to force the Legislature to act but conceiva.., 

bly this type of writ could lie against the commisslono 

SENATOR STOtrrg Thank you, Dro Rich, we appreciate 

your being here this morning with your colleagues from 

Rutgerso 

We will now call on Mro Joel Ro Jacobson» representing 

the State C I 0 Councllo 

M Ro J 0 E L Ro J A C 0 B S 0 N~ Senators Stout, 

Mathis and Crane, my name is Joel Jacobsona I am the Executive 

Vice-President of the New Jersey State C I 0 Councilo I speak 

here today on behalf of our 253,000 CIO members in the 

State, and express my deep appreciation for the opportunity 
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to express our view. 

SENATOR STOlJfg Excuse me, is that loud enough? 

Will you speak a little louder, please? 

~. JACOBSON~ We aren't often accused of being soft 

spoken in the C., I .0. 

At the risk of sounding naive, I want to say at the 

outset . that the testimony that I am about to present to you 

has been drawn up with no regard for the political consideration 

of any party in the State of New Jersey. I know you might 

consider this an herculean task in trn super-charged political 

atmosphere that exists in a gubernatorial year, but I do tell 

you that we have honestly tried to present a non-partisan 

testimony and have ·as our sole objective our contribution to 

fair and equal representation in this State. 

First, I want to say that we, in New Jersey, are 

particularly fortunate in having Dr. Rich and his associates 

available for consultation. I t is obvious that all who 

have testified here today referred to this excellent volume, 

and, of course, other studies made by the Bureau of Government 

Research. I want to state that I have taken any number of 

facts from the book and other studies by the Bureau, and that, 

while the facts stand as they have presented them, any inter­

pretations or conclusions that I have drawn upon those .facts, . 

of course, are not to be attributable to Dr. Rich but to the 

C ., LO. 

I first want to quote from the prepared testimony that 

Dr. Rich submitted to you on page 9, where he says, half way 
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down the page, "The ultimate goal of any apportionment is to 

make the number of persons represented by each assemblyman as 

nearly equal throughout the State as possible." It then goes 

on to state that this goal of perfection cannot be achieved for 

two reasons, the first being ,. that the constitution requires 

that every county have at least one seat in the General Assembly. 

It is on the basis of this particular fact in our existing Con­

stitution and the proposition proposed by SCR's 22 and 23 that 

we oppose botho It is our opinion that the retention of this 

method of apportionment of representation does not solve any 

problems but merely perpetuates the old problem that exists now 

of unequal representationo It will perpetuate in the Assembly 

the rather flagrant misrepresentative government that we do 

possess in the Senate at presento Just a brief statement: Under 

our representation method in the Senate today, we find that 17% 
of the State's population elect a majority of our State Senators; 

on the other hand, 75% of our State's population elect a minority 

of o'nly 38% of our State Senators . And to be specific with 

regard to two counties, in Essex County, which possesses 20% of 

the State's population, they elect one Senator, or the percentage 
-

figure of 408%. If I may impose myself, I see Senator Crane 

at the head table today. As a resident of Union County and voting 

for my State Senator, I find that because Union County has about 

eight times the population that exists in Ocean County, for 

instance, my vote for Senator Crane has only one-eighth the 

power that a vote for Senator Mathis from one of his 

constituents haso But while representative govern-



ment in the Senate might very well be the subject of another 

hearing, I do want to say that this, in itself, emphasizes the 

need for fairer representation in the Assembly, and for that 

reason we do oppose SCR's 22 and 230 

The use of a county as the basic political unit, of 

course, is the root of this evil, and the county line, as we 

all know, is merely an ar bitrary boundary which denotes 

generally nothing but a change in scenery and sometimes not 

even thato In the Housing project in which I live in Union, 

people who live across the hall from each other on the same 

floor live in different countieso It seems to be a rather 

arbitrary discretionary move to say that these people belong 

in different political untts, and we make the point that it~s 

the county line that retains the evil of unequal representation 

in the Assembly, as well as in the Senateo This is nothing new, 

according to Dro Rich's factso I find that as early as 1799, 

a gentleman who he says is an authority on land titles, one 

William Griffith, condemns this particular system as a gross 

violation of the first maxim of Republican representative govern= 

ment. Now, under the present system, and under the proposed sys= 

tern of the resolutions .under consideration, each county receives 

at least one Assemblymano Fo~ example, Sussex County has a popu= 

lation estimated now at 38,000o According to Senator Crane's 

figures, the estimated population in our county is about 450,000o 

The current apportionment gives Union County four seats and 

what you propose would give us five seatso According to our 

population, however~ we are thirteen times in excess of . the 
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population of Sussex County. I would think that we should have 

thirteen times as much representation in the Assembly, but what 

we have now is only four times as much and what you are recommend­

ing is only five times as much. I think we are not being as 

aggressive as we might in demanding our equal share of represen­

tation. To pursue this parallel furtherg Sussex County with its 

38,000 population entitled to one Assemblyman, compares in this 

respect with the .central ward of Newark, which has a population 

of 85,000 or almost aouble. If the system were to be fair we 

might assume that the central ward of Newark would be entitled 

to at least two Assemblymen; as it stands now they don•t have 

any, and it•s a question if they would under the proposed 

system. Throughout the Stat~ of the twenty=one counties, eight 

counties have less population than the West Ward of Newark ~ 

one ward of Newark. These counties, of ~ourse, have eight 

Assemblymen, Newark -does have one Assemblyman from the West 

Ward of Newark but this happens to be an accident more than 

any other design. So I think it shows that the system that 

is present and proposed under the two resolutions indicates 

plainly that representation is based on the system of real 

estate, or acres, rather than people, = certainly a violation 

of the facts that political science tells us, that it should 

~e based on equal representation. 

There is another reason we oppose the use of the county. 

That is primarily because we believe that negates the original 

philosophy behind the founding fathers• thinking on bicameral 

legislatures, and their thinking being that the 
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Upper Houses and Lower Houses of the Legislature should repre­

sent different constituencl~s. Of course, in New Jersey, it is 

just the opposite. The Assemblyman represents the very same 

identical constituency as the Senator. As a practical matter, 

we know that when Assemblymen and Senators run for election 

they run generally from the same party, overwhelmingly from 

the same party; they run on the same platform; they support 

the same program; they cast. the same votes; and in far too 

many cases the Senator is generally the spokesman for the 

delegation of the entire countyo We must ask the question then~ 

Is this fair representation? Obviously, we draw the conclusion 

that it is noto 

Now, the second evil that is retained in both of 

these amendments that we oppose is the provision for elections 

by county-at-largeo We say this, too, perpetuates the unequal 

representation. And what we are proposing is that the Const!~ 

tution be amended to provide for the establishment of Assembly 

districts, containing as near as possible, and certainly no 

more than 10% variation, equal population, with stringent safe= 

guards written in to prevent gerrymandering according to the 

suggestions of the political scientistso Now, this too is 

nothing original because as the history books and as Dro RichVs 

book tell us, as far back a s 1852 Governor George Ford sent 

an annual message to the Legislature where he said that we 

should create sing 1 e member districts, to "comport with·. the 

genius of our representative system and effect a more direct 

responsibility of the repr~senta ti ve to his constituents o" 
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In 1906,following a reversal of the system of assembly districts 

by the court, Governor Edward Stokes sent an annual message 

condemning at-large elections and asking for the establishment 

of assembly districts; Governor Fielder made a similar statement, 

and finally Governor Wilson , (we can look upon him as an out­

standing educator rather than a politicl~n from one particular 

party for the purpose of understanding this statementl called 

for an amendment to the Constitution requiring a return to the 

single member assembly district, and he declared that there was 

an obligation upon the state to, quote: "Make the representative 

body from which the legislation proceeds in fact representative, 

as nearly as possible a mirror of the character and opinion of 

the communities of which the State is composedo" 
' 

· Now, the original reason:; .. we gatheJ; for the establish-
I 

ment of a lower house was to make the assemblyman closer to nis 

constituency, to make him more accessible, to make him more 

responsive; these would be the two year term. Just for example, 

in Essex County where you have twelve assemblymen elected at · 

large, it ls our opinion that the individual voter couldn't be 

more remote from his elected assemblyme·n. And I dare say that if 

we were to walk down to Broad and Market i n Newark and ask any 

one hundred people at random to name one of their assemblyme.n 

from Essex County, no less what his views are, how he stands 

on issues of importance to them, I doubt if we could get any­

thing resembling an answer indicating that they knew who their 

assemblymen weree 

Secondly, to make an Assemblyman more · responsive, ·I ,:can 
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tell you as an unsuccessful lobbyist . that it is particularly 

difficult to pin-point the responsibility, and I don't say this 

with any feeling of rancor or anger, but we all know that it is 

very difficult in trying to determine from the legislators what 

their views are on legislation, and in many cases I feel like a 

ping-pong ball, and I attribute it primarily to tb~ system. 

Thirdly, to make the house more representative, it's 

silly to talk about it when they represent the same identical 

constituency as of the Senator, and we might ask, if the system 

that exists in the State Assembly today is fair, ~hy do we not then 

elect our fourteen congressmen at large in the State of New 

Jerseyi Certainly I think the question answers itself- that 

it is not fair, that assembly districts would make a more 

representative system. Now, with the election of twelve 

assemblymen, for instance, from Essex County, it uses what 

the political scientists call "the long ballot." The long 

ballot has long been in disrepute, it has been condemned by 

political scientists dedicated to good governmental procedures. 

Theymaintain and I agree it is a subversion of democracy, it 

permits concealment rather than to pin-point individual 

responsibility. It permits blind voting with twelve on a 

ticket. It•s impossible to expect that the voters know every­

thing they should know before they can cast intelligent votes. 

Secondly, the incentive 'When you go into a booth and are faced 

with twelve stellar names, is to vote the ticket and not the 

individual. This, of course, strengthens the hand of the 

political boss. It is virtually impossible for a maverick,~-

rnost of whom are reformed rnaverickis,to oppose the machine. In 
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the primary» as Dr. Rich points out, they face hopeless odds. 

Three» the system over-represents the majority 

party. Now, I agree that this is an argument of dubious value 

here, but I am discussing not politics but political science, 

and statistics show us that since 1900 in the New Jersey 

Senate, for instance, the ratio of the majority party to the 

minority party has been roughly three or four to one at all 

times, and in only two years, 1913 and 1914, has the Senate 

been Democratic. In the Assembly, since 1900, the ratio has 

been roughly two or three to one, majority party over the 

minority party, and the last Democratic Assembly was in 1937, 

twenty years ago. Under the existing system, in addition, 

the minority, however large 9 is deprive.d of any and all 

re:pr,esentatlon in the Assemblyo For example, in 1953 the 

majority party in Ess ex received 125,000 votes, the minority 

party received 117,000 votes, and of course they didn't have 

one representative in the Assembly. But even where the majority 

· party doe s prevail, the urban vote finds itself considerably 

diluted as compared to the rural vote o I make the point again 

of Sussex County, the smallest county in the State with 38,000 

population, wi th one Ass emblyman, and Essex County, with 

900,000 populatlono Even though they do have twelve Assembly­

men, the vote cast for an Assemblyman in Essex has just one­

half the power of the vote cast for an Assemblyman in Sussex; 

and in Union, of course , it is four or five to one in your 

proposa~ where it should be thirteen to oneo If Assembly 

districts were to be created representing equal number of 

voters, it would be more realistic to assume that the voters could 
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determine the necessary information about their district's 

candidates ~ experience , voting record, and views on current 

issues which are necessary before any voter can cast an intel­

ligent ballote Not only would assembly dis tricts permit more 

equal representation but it would permit the elected official 

to represent mo re faithfully the will of his constituents. With 

single member distri ct elected offici als , the representative 

would be closer to his constituents and more responsive to their 

needs and desires. While there is no question in our mind that 

a unicameral legislature, wi th e l ected officials representing 

as nearly as possible equal numbers of individuals, would pro­

vide a fair representation in New Jersey , · we are well aware 

that this a poli tical i mpos sibilityo 

In conclusion, then~ we would !ike to recommend the 

establishment of assembly dis tricts of equa l population as near 

as possible with no greater var i ation than ten per cent, with 

stringent safeguards against gerrymandering j and we be lieve that 

this would reve rse the trend that currently exists in the Senate 

~!ld would bring fair and equal representation to New Jersey. We 

urge considerat ion of this pro blem of apportionment in the light 

of these facts and these conclusionso Thank you very mucho 

SENATOR STOUT: Do any members of the committee have 

any questions? Senator Crane? 

SENATOR CRANE: Well 9 I did have a few questions to 

ask Mr. Jacobsono It seems to me that if you would carry out 

your argument of the diffe rence between Union and Sussex and 

the amount of representation that !ould appear to be our due if you 

went strictly by popu lationj donut you beli eve that this would 
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tend to break the historic precedent with our traditional number 

of sixty in the House of Assembly? 

MRo JACOBSON~ Yes 9 it would, but I understand from 

the reading that I have done that the trend throughout the 

nation ls in the other direction. I think the figure that I 

saw was that New Jersey has the fourth smallest Legislature 

of the entire Stateso 

SENATOR CRANE~ Have you ever heard praise of a 

State because it had a small Legislature? 

MRo JACOBSONg I haven't heard it but I assume it 

might have been given on that basiso It seems to me that 

the actual number of the legislators is not quite so impor­

tant as it is to see that each voter has an equal voice in 

his elected representatives. 

SENATal CRANEg Well, then, another point that I 

wanted to bring outg You referred to the fact that your 

apartment is divided by a county lineo Isn't it a fact that 

your apartment was built after the county line was established? 

MR. JACOBSONg That is trueo 

SENATOR CRANEg You are divided by a municipal line, 

too, between Union Township and Irvington; isntt that right? 

MR. JACOBSONg Yes, that is right. The point that 

I do make, Senator, is that in the urbanized population, such 

as we have in North Jersey, a boundary line is nothing more 

than an arbitrary line through the sky; it doesn't mean anythingo 

SENATOR CRANEg Well, it's a boundary of government, 

of jurisdiction, of coursea Now, would you, in this proposal 
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to make assembly districts, also break through municipal bounda­

ries? I mean, would you draw a line, say, down through the 

middle of Union Township at one point, or through Irvington, or 

through Newark? Are you going to break up municipal boundat'JJS·,; 

too? 

MRo JACOBSON: The Legislature has had no compunction 

19 doing this in the districting of congressional seats, and 

I don't see any reason why it can't be done in the Assembly. 

I would like to make the point, though, that if the---

SENA.TOR CRANE: To transcend all barriers. 

MR. JACOBSONg That is right. If we are to maintain 

a ratio of sixty Assemblymen, which we have no objection to, 

then, according to the statistics I've seen, each assembly 

district should represent roughly 80,000 voters with attempts 

to prevent gerrymandering. It appears to us that this would 

be the fair method of representation. 

SENATO\ CRANE~ To accomplish this though, it has 

been historic in all our constitutions that each county has 

been entitled to one vote. You cited that as an evil. 

MR. JACOBSONg Doe s this break with tradition? 

SENATOR CRANE~ Yes, it breaks with tradition and it 

is a further departure from tradition than is Senate Concurrent 

Resolution No. 23. 

rARo JACOBSONg Well, what may be one man's kettle of 

hallowed tradition is another man's pot of ill-conformity and 

it's all how you look at it I suppose o 

SENATOR CRANE : Wel l, while you're there because this 

is a point which remains in discussion, I want to ask Dr. Rich: 
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Is it true or not, sir, that the method of equal proportions 

comes more nearly to the norm - that after granting one 

representative to each coW1ty, thereafter the representatives 

are divided as nearly equal to a norm of population? 

DR. RICH: -- one to each county. Having granted those 

21 seats, then how do you equitably divide the remaining 39? 

The equal proportions system would do thate 

SENATOR CRANE: Well, that answers my question, sir. Then 

to come back to this, Mro Jacobson. You offered what I felt was 

rather a novel proposal, that your Senators represented different 

constituents from those represented by Assemblymen? 

MR. JACOBSON: I said, ttthe same." 

SENATOR CRANE: You mean, by larger territories, that 

they would not overlap, or what? 

MR. JACOBSON: What I said was that under the existing 

and proposed recommendations, the Senator does represent the 

same constituency at present and, according to the understanding 

I have and what I have read of our history, the reason for a 

bicameral Legislature of any nature was that each House would 

represent a different constituencye 

SENATOR CRANE: In other words, I would represent 

different people entirely - no overlap with my Assemblymen? 

MR. JACOBSON: I think there would be a considerable 

amount of overlapo 

SENATOR CRANE: Well, would fyou have Senate districts, 

then, and Assembly districts? 

MR. JACOBSON: Well, impicit in our statement, it 

would probably be the abolition of the Senate. we would like to 
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see a unicameral Legislature, but this is so politically impos­

sible that we don't even say it seriously, but if we are talking 

serious political science, we would say that. 

SENATOR STOUT: Would you want the same thing about 

the Federal government, a unicameral government? 

MR. JACOBSON~ Surelyo I can't see any reason, for 

instance, why two Senators should represent some barren area 

out in tbe West with fewer population than they have in the 

central ward of Newark. This doesn't seem to be fair. 

SENATOR STOUT: Well, Mr. Jacobson, the founding 

fathers felt differently. 

MR. JACOBSON: I wasn't there at the time the debate 

was on. 

SENATOR CRANE~ I want to ask you this question: 

Would the adoption of this Assembly district proposal of yours 

mean that you intended to, in fact, rid the State of the Senate? 

MR. JACOBSON: No, we are realistic enough to under­

stand that this couldn't possibly be done. What we are saying 

is that the unequal representation that exists in the Senate 

should not be perpetuated into the Assembly, and the proposal 

we make would prevent that . 

SENATOR CRANE: Well then, in other words, in effect 

this is purely for the Assembly and without respect to the 

Senate? 

MR. JACOBSON: That is right. 

SENATOR CRANE: I believe that this proposal is presently 

before the Legislature in one of the acts. ACR-32 has 
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to do with apportionment of districts o I am not familiar with 

it, but are you familiar with it? 

MRo JACOBSON: No, I am not 9 - I dldnit know there 

was one in existenceo 

SENATCR CRANEg But there is one presently before the 

Legislature and it is an Assembly Concurrent Resolutiono 

Therefore I feel that it must be a recommendatton to amend the 

Consti tutiono You feel that you are just taking a single step 

toward the reformation of the Assembly? 

MRo JACOBSONg Yes 9 that is ri ghto 1 dontt know if 

this is cricket or not 9 but in response to the ques~ion of 

Dro Rich I di d want to say. that in his chapter entitled 

"A Look Ahead" he makes this statementg "Under the existing 

system, the minority9 however 1arge 9 is deprived of all repre~ 

sentation in the General Assemblyo A return to the system 

of district elections under judicial or other safeguards woul d 

seem to assure a more representative Lower Houseo" And I think 

this is theory echoed by many political scientists on this 

partic~lar issueo 

SENATCR CRANEg That would be a good note to close 

on for your argwnento 

MRo JACOBSON g That Us why I s aid ito 

SENATffi CRANE~ That is allo 

MRo JACOBSONg Thank you very mucho 

SENATCR MATHI So I think we have another oneo 

Wi ll you come forward 9 please, and state your name 

and the organization that you represent? 
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MR. JAMES . Eo BRYAN: The name is James 

E. Bryan, from Elizabeth, Uni6n County, and I am representing 

the Property Owners• Associationo 

Senators, we are very much interested in this legisla­

tion. We don't feel competent to advise our Senator as to the 

details of procuring equal representation for Union Countyo We 

are in accord with his ethics and we think he is making a very 

good effort and we can wish for successo Union County has only 

four Assemblymen and we have been entitled to a fifth for seven 

years and we are very much concerned about whether we are ever 

going to get that representation. I don•t have anything to add 

to what the Senator has saido I think he is doing a wonderful 

job in representing us, and anything we can do to help him get 

that representation for us, we will be only too glad to do if 

he will point the wayo 

I would like to state that we would be very much 

opposed to the proposition that was just presented of cutting 

the county or the State up into districtso I believe that 

system is very much in disrepute wherever it has been tried 

in our local governmentso The City of Newark, which was men-

tioned, has long since abandoned it and their councilmen form 

of government, and many of us in my municipality are very much 

disgusted with the workings of that process at the present time, 

and there are many who would like to see it abandoned and go 

into some other form of governmento Certainly if it won't work 

in a small municipality like the City of Elizabeth, it won't 

work on a statewide t base. 

There are a couple of questions that we have in mindo 
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We considered this proposition from the taxpayers' standpoint 

for sometime and if it would be possible to get any information 

on it, I would be glad to have ito I would like to address a 

question to Dro Rich, if I might, on the subject. Would that 

be permissible? I would like to ask, in all his research and 
i 

study on this question, if he has ever found where the validity 

of an act of the legislators, who are not organized according to 

the Constitution, has been cha llenged? Now, to enlarge on that 

just a little, it would appear tha t our Constitution is very 

clear, it requires certain representationo • Certainly we don't 

get it in Union Countyo The question in mind would be whether 

it would be possible as a taxpayers' suit to have the validity 

of any action taken by a Legisl ature, where it is not organized 

according to the Constitution, challenged in the court? 

SENATal STOlJrg Do you understand the question, Doctor? 

DRo RICHg I think I will have to call for help hereo 

Stanley, can you answer that question? 

DRo FRIEDELBAUN!g In so far as the state cases are 

concerned, I believe there has never been a taxpayer•~ suit 

in which the courts have declared an act of the legislative body 

illegal, simply because an apportionment has not been madeo The 

closest to that would be in New Jersey in the case of Botti vs. 

McGovern, which has already been quoted, in 1922 • . The sole 

question before the court related to the power of the Legislature 

to reapportion in a session subsequent to that prescribed in the 

Constitutiono In that case, the State Supreme Court declared 

that the responsibility of r eapportionment is a continuous one, 

and, well, to quote from itg "It is cast, in turn, upon each 



Legislature succeeding that which has defaulted in the perfor­

mance of the obligation ~ until the obligation is fulfilledo" 

Now, there are states in which apportionment has . been subjected 

to judicial review; however, I know of no case in which a tax­

payer's suit has been enter tained against legislationc otherwise 

valid, merely because the Legislature has failed to carry out 

its constitutional mandate to reapportiono 

SENATOR STOlIT ~ Does that answer your question, Mr o 

Bryan? 

MR.o BRYAN~ That answers the question; we were wonder­

ing if ·11 had ever been challengedo One other question, it is 

very shorto We would like to know if there has ever been an 

instance where the legislators have failed to proportion, it 

would be necessar y for the counties that had more representation 

than they should have, to make their candidates appear on the 

ballots of other counties? In other words, if Essex County 

and Hudson County ar e go ing to have more t han their fair share 

of representation over a period of years,shouldntt thos e 

candidates have to appear on the ballot of Union County so that 

we would have an opportunity of helping to select that repre­

sentation, and if no other method can be found of gett ing 

proportionment could that be brought about? In other words, 

any county that is short of representation would have a right 

to participate in the electing of those senators from the 

counties who have more than their fair share, that we might 

be able to break up this log-jam of this twenty-one blocking 

votes? 
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SENATOR CRANE: There is only one precedent for that, 

Mr. Bryano One State allows for fractional representation in 

time onlye In other words , to get this equity of representation, 

they allow that. I am not sure whether it is Michigan or where 

it is, but basically it is this: During the decade just past, 

if in the apportioning of seats a county is entitled to a 

fraction more ,' letrs say one -tanth of a legislator or one-

twelfth of a legislator - i t is mo r e easily depicted by using 

one-tenth of a legislator - t hat one year before that reapportion­

ment ends, effectively they will be granted an additional 

legislator for that ' periodo It does not provide for taking 

away another one of these sys t ems of adding to the Legislature. 

I am sorry I don•t know the actual Stateo It is cited in these 

provisionse Mro Alito might r emember which State that wase 

It is rather a noval suggestion and it does have 

precedent somewhere, but it hasnrt been considered hereo 

MRo BRYAN: Perhaps, Senator, if these resolutions 

cannot be passed, you could give further consideration to 

that and see if it might possibly be brought abouto 

SENATOR CRANE.: Al 1 r ight o 

MRo BRYAN: Thank youo 

SENATOR STOUT: Thank you , Mro Bryano Is there any­

body further who wishes to be heard? 

SENATOR CRANE: Could I just leave one thing into 

the record. I donrt want t o unduly prolong this but I just 

want to have this one point made and then ask if these 

recommendations will take ca r e of the provisions 0 
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In reviewing the matter of reapportionment, we find a 

New Jersey Court decision and it was written for Attorney General 
I 

Parsons by Dominick Cavicchia, whom we have cited prevtouslyo In 
' 

this 1951 decision, it was point~d out that "An apportionment 

of the members of the General Assembly shall be made by the Legls­

ture at · Its first session after the next and every subsequent 

census." And concludedg "If the final county population figures 

were not formally issued by the Federal Government until 1951, 

the 1951 Legislature could not pass a Reapportionment Act,~' that 

such an Act must -wa.tt until the next yearo If this interpreta­

tion were to hold after the 1960 census, and the 1960 popu~ation 

figures were not officially promulgated until the following year, 

and there ls little likelihood that they would be formally pro­

mulgated earlier, a reapportionment act could not be anacted 

untll 1962, since the Assemblymen sitting in the 1962 Legislature 

will be in the first year of their two=year termo This will mean, 

if they have a right to full two=year terms, once elected, 

the new reapportionment wil l not be effective until the 1963 

election for Assemblymen to be seated ln the 1964 sess!ono 

Now, here !s something that points to the fact that 

although we have new census figures, it wouldn't affect the 

t.egislature until 1964.. Would these new Concurrent Resolutions 

in their provisions. as uendments to the Constitution take. care 

of that po1nt 1 l' 11 ask Dr o Rich., If he cares to ref er l t to 

anyone else, it is all right., 

DR., RICH~ Senator Crane, I donit think that I can 

answer the question. We talked this over among ourselves about 



the time element and frankly we weren't quite sure what the 

time element would be. Stanley, do you have a comment you want 

to make? 

DR. FRIEDELBAUM: The opinion to which you refer is 

simply an opinion of the Attorney General, it has no real 

status in law, it isn't a decision of any court of this State. 

I would assume that Senate Concurr ent Resolution No. 23 would 

take care of any diff iculty which would arise, since you say: 

"Within 30 days of publication by the United States Government 

of the certified totals of the number of inhabitant~ of each 

county according to the next and each subsequent decennial 

census, the Secretary of State shall calculate according to 

the method 'described hereafter the number of members to which 

each county shall be entitled and forthwith certify the same 

to the .several county clerks." I think the constitutional 

problem as we presently have it, arises from the fact that an 

apportionment is required to be made by the Legislature at the 

first session following each decennial census. In other words, 

if the figures are certified during a legislative session, 

presumably it would have to go over until the next one, although 

I don't think even that is settledo My own personal opinion 

is that that would not necessarily have to be the case if this 

were done by statute rather than by constitutional amendment. 

SENAT<lt CRANEg This does tend to reduce that time 

element, though1 

DR. FRIEDELBAUM g Yes, very difinitely so. 

SENAT~ CRANEg You are quite correct, I•ve made a 
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mistake in reading my notes hereo I referred first to Botti 

vse McGovern and then confused it with Cavicchia•s statemente 

I would llke:,:i to close then on a note that I have 

ignored one group of people that I would like to cite for 

their help in this, and that is our own Law Revision and 

Legislative Serviceso I would like to point out that Messrse 

Ockford, Arthur Smith, and William Lanning of the Bill 

Drafting Department have been invaluable in their aid.o 

SENA.TOR STOUT: Thank you, Senatoro 

If there are no further appearances, the public 

hearing is adjournedo 

{Statement prepared by the 
Bureau of Government Research, Rutgers, The 
State University, followso} 

HEARING CONCLUDEDo 
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Inaction of the New Jersey Legislature has not been 

based upon opposition to reapportionment itself, for few persons 

hold that no change is necessaryo Rather, the major obstacle 

appears to be opposition to the results obtained by any specific 

method of apportionment when the gains and losses are known and 

are evaluated from a political and regional viewpoint. In this 

atmosphere, an objective discussion of the merits of any particular 

plan becomes difficult. 

The 1950 census figures are now more than seven years old. 

Any apportionment based upon them necessarily will be out-o:.>date. 

Passage of such an apportionment act would conceivably produce 

some measure of temporary, approxi.mate equality in representation, 

and destroy the desire for a permanent, automatic, and equitable 

apportionment system. The better course is to authorize a detailed 

automatic process now, with the first application deferred until 

after the 1960 census. In effect, such a procedure will mean an 

acceptance of the "rules of the game" before it is possible to see 

11 which way the ball will bouncei:. The experience of the past 

seven years has shown that it is idle to expect an objective 

analysis of the merits of competing apportionment plans when 

specific gains and losses in representation are attached to each~ 

It seems far better to agree upon the best system now, applying 

the procedures to the official population statistics when they 

become available in 1961. 



The experience of the past seven legislatures in attempt-

ing to reach agreemer..t upcn ci.n apportionment pLoi.n for the General 

Assembly emphasizes the fut:i.1ity of this procedure. Since 1951, 

a totul of 54 apportio:.u~ent proposals have been considered without 

success. Included are 39 proposed st:c:.tutory apportiorunents and 

15 prpposed constitut:ional amendrn~nts 4 Eve.n if it is assumed that 

the legislature may eventually agree upon an apportionment plan, 

further potential ob~tacles to final ena.ctre2nt are raised by the 

necessity for approval by the governor in the case of a statute 

or by the vc ters th,:on3h a public referenC.um in the case of an 

amen:iment to the conatitution. 

Nu:n':~rcus othe:'i:" states have encot.:ntered similar diffi-

culties i:ri. ach:Levinc; e.:;>portionm~nt of one or both houses of the 

legislature. In several cases some type of automatic apportion­

ment procedure has been devised to meet this situation. 1 Adopt-

ion of an automatic procedure in New Jersey will assist in keeping 

representation in the General Assembly in close alignment with 

the population of the state as required by the constitution. De-

la.ys caused by inability of the legislature to agree upon a 

specific apportionment method will be eliminated. 

1 
Lashley G. Harvey, "Reapportionments of. State Legislatures--Legal 
Requirements," 17 Law and Contemporary Problems 374-5 (1952) 



II 

Practice among the American states reveals two basic and 

variati: approaches to the resolution of the apportionment pro­

blem. These may be designated conveniently as the discretionary 

and ministerial power theories. The first is predicated upon the 

assumption that discretionary power must be maintained in the 

legislative body~ Essentially, the apportioning process is treat­

ed as a political function which may not and should not be divor­

ced from the legislature itself. Apportionment is considered of 

such importance to the survival of democratic institutions that 

only the direct representatives of the people may be trusted to 

per.form the operation. Under the doctrine of the separation of 

powers, moreover, the periodic rearrangement of seats is looked 

upon as a re.sponsi bility · which may oot · be delegat·ed· e:i.th-:!r to the 

executive or judicial branches of the government ~ 

A ministerial approach to the apportionment problem 

represents an effort to accomplish a redistribution either by the 

creation of a legislative agency for this express purpose or by 

the assignment of responsibility to an official or officals out­

side the legislative branch. Policy determination remains within 

the purview of the legislature, at least in the first instance c 

Once a fixed rule has been adopted, however, the execution of the 

rule devolves upon a designated officer or officers whose function 

is wholly ministerial in character. Discretion is eliminated 

completely or reduced to a minimum. The process often becomes 

automatic involving, in most cases, routine calculations based 

upon a pre-established formula,, 
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What has stimulated recent interest in the ministerial 

power theory despite the long tradition of legislative discretion 

which has prevailed among the American states? In large measure, 

resort to ministerial action has been indicative of an increasing 

wave of dissatisfaction with legislative inaction in carrying out 

the apportionment function according to constitutional mandateo 

The courts, both national and state, have offered little relief 

in compelling legislative bodies to act . Generally, throughout 

the United States, the extraordinary writ of mandamus has been 

held not to lie to require a performance of legislative dutieso 

Constitutions often have defined legislative responsibilities, 

but sanctions are lacking. 

The United States Supreme Court, in the case of Colegrove 

v. Green, held that the -Constitution 11 .... has many commands that 

are not enforceable by courts because they clearly fall outside 

the conditions and purposes that circumscribe judicial action ••• 

The Constitution has left the performance of many duties in our 

governmental scheme to depend on the fidelity of the executive 

and legislative action and, ultimately, on the vigilance of the 

people in exercising their political rights. 11 2 This view has been 

adhered to uniformly throughout the nation. For example, in 

Fergus v. Marks, the Supreme Court of Illinois ruled that, 

despite the constitutional mandate to apportion, the judiciary 

could not exercise control over or compel action by a coordinate 

2 
328 U.S.549, 90 L.Ed.1432 (1946). 
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branch of the government.3 Additional examples may be multiplied 

by reference to judicial proceedings in other states.4 

Despite the traditional aloofness of the courts, judic-

ial remedies have been successfully invoked in proceedings to 

compel a ministerial officer or officers to act. The doctrine 

of the separation of powers no longer is directly applicable. Nor 

is there a question of possible coercion exercised upon a coordin-

ate branch of the government. Instead, a writ of mandamus lies 

simply against a subordinate officer whose responsibilities are 

defined either by constitutional mandate or by statutory pr~scrip-

tion. Where a constitutional void formerly existed, a legal 

sanction has been supplied~ 

III 

Article IV, Section III of the Constitution of New 

Jersey provides that members of the General Assembly 11 .~.shall 

be apportioned among the several counties as nearly as may be 

according to the number of their inhabitants, but each county 

shall at all times be entitled to one member and the whole number 

of members shall never exceed s·ixty." An apportionment is requir-

ed to be made by the legislature at the first session following 

each decennial census and the apportionment 11 ••• when made shall 

remain unaltered until the following census shall have been 

3 
321 111.510, 152 N.E.557 (1926). 

4 
Rec~nt illustrative cases include Smith v. Holm, 220 Minn.486 
l~ 1'l.W.2d )14 (1945) and State ex rer:-MartJ.n v. Zimmerman, 249 

'Wis.101,23 N.W.2d .610 (194S). 
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taken." Flexibility of choice in the adoption of a specific m~thod 

or procedure necessarily flows from the constitutional language. 

Similar phraseology in other state constitutions has been inter­

preted to afford an area of discretion to the l ·egislature. 5 

The case law of New Jersey offers little guidance in 

defining the constitutional mandate to apportion. The leading 

case of State v. Wrightson, which reached the state Supreme Court 

in 1893, related primarily to the districting issue. The creation 

of districts was held to be an unconstitutional exercise of legis-

lative power. Collaterally, the Court asserted its right to sub-

ject an apportionment statute to judicial r~view. Justice Depue, 

who delivered the opinion of the Court, maintained that an act" ••• 

in the performance of that function is the exercise of a legislat-

ive and not of a political power, and the constitutionality of the 

act by which that legislative power is exercised is a subject of 

judicial inquiry. 11 6 

In Botti v. McGovern, decided in 1922, the sole question 

before the Supreme Court related to the power of. the legislature, 

sitting in a year succeeding the promulgation of a federal census, 

to defeat the constitutional scheme by refusing or neglecting to 

5 
The Court of Appeals of Kentucky, in applying a similar clause, 
declared:" ••• Exactittide is ·not to be expected. 'Approximationris 
the rule erected by the Constitution, but the Legislature may not 
escape the duty of approximation imposed by the Constitution on 
the ground that mathematical precision is not attainable ••• " 
Stiglitz v. Schardien, 239 Ky. 799, 40 S.W.2d 315 (1931). For more 
recent interpretation~,see Attorney General v. Secretary of the 
Commonwealth.i_306 Mass. 25, 27 N. E.2d 265 (1940) and State v. 
Zi~~' 264 Wis. 644, 60 N.W. 2d . 416 (1953). 

656 N.J.L.126 
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make the apportionment required. Once again, the apportioning 

process itself was not directly germane to a ruling in the case. 

The Court found simply that the obligati.on to apportion is con­

tinuous and " ••• is cast in turn upon each legislature succeeding 

that which has defaulted in the performance of the obligation, 

until the obligation is fulfilled •• ~ 117 

IV 

Given the need for ministerial action, how may this 

objective be accomplished in New Jersey? Procedurally, either a 

constitutional amendment or a statute will serve to provide a 

system of automatic apportionment. The first incorporates a 

fi~ed lule within the framework of the constitution. It places 

a responsibility upon tbe secretary of state which may be enforced 

judicially. A constitutional amendment elevates a specific method 

of apportionment to a plane paramount to ordinary legislation. 

Any possibility of prolonged litigation to challenge the validity 

of the method adopted is precluded. Moreover, the apportionment 

issue is taken out of the political arena to the maximum degree 

possible. 

An automatic apportionment statute, on the other hand, 

offers a greater degree of flexibility in approach than is pos­

sible under a constitutional amendment. Conceivably, a degree 

of legislative participation may be retained by means of a proviso 

that the automatic features of the plan would become effective 

7 
97 N.J.L.353. 
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only if the legis1ature failed to take positive action within a 

specified time. A similar clause is embodied in the federal 

apportionment act.8 Congressional experience during the past 

several decades has revealed that the statutory approach does 

not result in abuses of legislative discretion. 9 

8 

9 

On the first day, or within a week, of the first regular session 
of Congress following each decennial census, the President is 
required to submit to Congress a statement indicating the number 
of representatives to which each state is entitled on the basis 
of its latest population figures. The apportionment is made by 
the method of equal proportions. Unless Congress acts, the Clerk 
of the House, within fifteen days of receipt of the statement, 
must notify the governor of each state of the number of repre­
sentatives assigned to the state. U.S.C.2-2a. 

A possible objection to the validity of an automatic apportion­
ment statute may derive from the principle of the separation of 
powers embodied in Article III of the constitution and its 
allied maxim, Delegata potestas non potest delegari. This ob­
jection may be obviated if a precise method of apportionment is 
prescribedG The secretary of state need not be afforded any 
discretion in performing the mechanics of the apportionment. His 
role should be wholly ministerial in character. Given a fixed 
rule or standard, the actual calculation will admit of only one 
possible distribution of assembly seats. Failure to take any 
action at all may be remedied by a proceeding in lieu of a 
prerogative writ instituted against the secretary of state. 

An automatic apportionment statute, ther~fore, may involve 
nothing more than an assignment of a mechanical function to an 
executive officer. There need be no delegation of legislative 
power, either stated or implied. The sole purpose of the assign­
ment is a conferral of responsibility to insure that a suit may 
be instituted to compel compliance with the statutory require­
ments. Ultimately, the success or failure of any plan must depend 
upon legal sanctions capable of judicial enforcement. Without 
such sanctions, . legislative inaction may thwart indefinitely the 
right of the people to equitable representation in the general 
assembly. 
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v 

In any automatic plan for apportionment of the General 

Assembly, it is essential that the mathematical method to be used 

should be stated with exactnesso Any precise, automatic method 

of apportionment reflecting the distribution of population within 

the state is preferable to the present indefiniteness which has 

resulted in no apportionment at all since 1941., Of the methods 

which have been proposed, the method of egual proportions appears 

best suited to the process of apportioning General Assembly seats 

among the counties of New Jersey. 

The ultimate goal of any apportionment is to ma.t<:e the 

number of persons represented by each assemblyman as nearly equal 

throughout the state as poBsible. A perfact apportionment would 

be achieved if every assemblyman were to represent the same nu.mber . 

of personsu In the case of the 1950 population of New Jersey, 

this number would be the population of the state, 4,835,329, 

divided by the number of assembly seats, 60, or 80,539 persons .. 

This goal of perfection cannot be achieved fer two reasons. First, 

the constitution requires that every county have at least one seat 

in the General Assembly, regardless of its population. Second, the 

population of a county seldom, if ever, is evenly divisible by 

80,589. Since the apportionment must deal in whole seats, some 

assemblymen must represent a few more or a few less persons than 

the ideal numbero Nevertheless, the inability to achieve perfec­

tion does not rule out the use af perfection as a standard against 

which any apportionment plan may be measured. 
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There are two approaches to a measurement of the degree 

to which any proposed apportionment approaches the perfect standard. 

These are: (1) by comparing the number of persons represented by 

each assemblyman; and (2) by comparing the share in an assembly 

seat which each individual inhabitant of the state has. Each of 

these two approaches may be expressed by two mathematical terms: 

(1) by absolute numbers; and (2) by relative numbers or pe~cent-

ages. Therefore, thexe are four tests which can be applied to any 

apportionment: 

(1) The absolute difference between any two counties in the 

population per assemblyman. 

(2) The absolute difference between any two counties in the ·--
individual share of an a.ssembly seat. 

(3) The relative difference between any two counties in the 

population per ?ssemblyman. 

(4) The relative difference between any two counties in tre 

individual share of an Assembly seato 

The smaller the absolute and relative differences, the 

better the apportionment. The method of egual proportions reduces 

to a minimum the relative difference in the population per assem-

blyman and also in the individual share of an assembly seat. Other 

mathematical methods are available which reduce to a minimum either 

the absolute difference in population per assemblyman or the 

absolute difference in the individual share of an assembly seat. 
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The relative diff..:?rence between two numbers frequently is recog-

nized as the best comparison of them. In 1941 the Congress of the 

United States, accepting this position, enacted an automatic 

apportionment statute using the method of egual proportions for all 

future apportionments of the House of RepresentativesalO 

10 
Any apportionment, regardless of the method used, may be tested 
by the following procedure: 

(1) Select the mathematical objective which is considered most 
desirableo For example, the minimum relative difference in 
the population per assemblyman may be used. 

(2) Compare any two counties and the number of seats assigned to 
them by any two apportionment plans. 

(3) Determine whether the objective selected can be better 
achieved by shifting a seat from one county to another. 

EXAMPLE: 

Plan 1 Plan 2 
Population Population 

County Population Seats Per Seat Seats Per Seat 

Burlington 135,910 1 135,910 2 67 ,955 

Essex 905 '949 11 82,359 10 90' 595 

Absolute Difference •••• ~O••••••• 53,551 •. • • • • • • • • • 22,640 

Relative Difference •• 53,551 •••••• 65% 22,640 ••••• 033% 
82,359 67,955 

(4) In the illustration above, the objective selected is the min­
imum relative difference in the population per assemblyman. 
This goal is achieved better by Plan 2 than by Plan 1-

(5) The same procedure may be followed in comparing any two coun­
ties under any two apportionment plans. 

(6) The method of egual proportions results in keeping the relative 
differences at a minimum. Any change from this method will 
increase the relative differences in both the population per 
assemblyman and in the individual share of an assembly seat. 
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VI 

What, then, is the best method of approaching a solu­

tion of the apportionment problem in New Jersey? Sen.ate Con­

current Resolution 22 proposes a constitutional amendment requir­

ing the legislature to apportion the General Assembly by July 1 

'following publication of the 1960 and subsequent censusese If 

the legislature fails to act, a ten-member bipartisan commission 

is established. No mathematical method of apportionment is spec­

ified. If the commission fails to reach agreement by August 1, 

the apportionment problem reverts to the legislature where, if 

no further action is taken, it remains until July 1 of the follow­

ing year when a new apportionment commission is constituted. 

The plan set forth in Senate Concurrent Resolution 22 

provides no conclusive method of automatic apportionment. It 

fails to specify any mathematical procedureo The result may well 

be a continuation of the current inability to agree upon a re­

apportionment of the assembly. Without an express sanction, the 

process proposed in Senate Concurrent Resolution 22may be 

interminable. 

~enate Concurrent Resolution 23 proposes a constitution• 

al amendment requiring automatic apportionment of the General 

Assembly by the secretary of state following the 1960 and succeed.­

ing censuses. The procedure described expressly is the mathemat­

ical method of equal proportions. The resolution also provides 
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a conclusive automatic procedure. Presumably, the secretary of 

state could be compelled to act in accordance with the terms of 

the amendment by a judicial proceeding in lieu of a prerogative 

writ. However, provisos may well be included to make the amend­

ment self-executing and to authorize expressly legal proceedings 

requiring action by the secretary of state. 

Is a constitutional amendment necessary to accomplish 

the results contemplated in Senate Concurrent Resolution 23? 

There would appear to be no constit4tional impediment to a 

statutory approach provided a fixed method is specified by the 

legislature in advance. If any doubt remains, legislative partic·· 

ipation should militate in favor cf the validity of a statute. 

An act could provide that the automatic features would not become 

effective if the legislature adopted an alternative plan of 

apportionment within a specified period of time. 

While a constitutional amendment and statutory proced­

ures represent diverging paths, both seek to achieve essentially 

similar results. The choice depends largely upon such factors as 

the degree of permanence desired, the question of legislative 

participation, and the political feasibility of adoptionA In any 

event, the substantive features of Senate Concurrent Resolution 23 

seem well designed to provide an equitable solution of the appor~ 

tiorunent problem in New Jersey. 




